
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

18 U.S.C. j 371

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO and
JORGE LUIS FORTE,

Defendants.

/

INFORM ATION

The United States Attorney charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At al1 times relevant to this Information
,

The Citv of Sweetwater and the Office of the M avor

The City of Sweetwater was a municipality located within the State of Fl
orida and

the Southern District of Florida
.

The City of Sweetwater was incorporated in 1941 and was a unit of
, and subject

to, the laws of Florida. The legislative powers of the City of Sweetwater were vested in the 
city

commission. The eity commission was comprised of seven elected per
sons. Generally, the

commission members served for four-year terms of oftsce
.

The mayor of the City of Sweetwater is an elected official who g
enerally serves a

four-year tenn of office. The executive authority of the City of Sweetwater was vested i
n the

mayor. The mayor was the chief executive officer of the City of S
weetwater and was
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responsible for the management and administration of the city govem ment
. The mayor was

responsible for the supervision and direction of a11 departments
, agencies or offices of the city.

The legislative power of the mayor was limited to his right to participat
e in meetings of the city

comm ission, the power of veto, approval in writing of ordinances and resolutions
, but the mayor

had no right to vote. However, the mayor eould and did rtcommend that certain items
, to

include resolutions
, be added to the agenda for consideration of the city commission

. The mayor

was also required to keep the city commission fully advised as to the fi
nancial condition and

future needs of the city and make such recommendations to th
em concerning the affairs of the

city as the mayor deem ed advisable or the city comm ission req
uested.

The Defendants

the M ayor for the City of

Sweetwater. ln this elected position
, defendant MAROXO was a public official and an agent of

the City of Sweetwater.

Defendant M ANUEL LAZARO MARONO was

Defendant JORGE LUIS FORTE was a long-time friend, business associate
,

and confidant of defendant M ANUEL LAZARO MAROXO
.

Sunshine Universal

Sunshine Universal was a Federal Bureau of lnvestigation unde
rcover company

posing as a grant writing and administration business
.

Undercover FBl Employee l (UCE 1) and undercover FBl employee 2 (UCE 2)

posed as principals of Sunshine Universal
.

UCE 1 and UCE 2 purported to have an inside contact at Americ
om s, a real

federal agency, that would aid Sunshine Universal in obtaini
ng federal grant m oney fxom

Americorps. The grant m oney was purportedly designated t
o be used for economic

%.
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development studies to be provided to local municipalities
. No moneys were to be received by

local municipalities, only a written study supposedly done by Sunshine U
niversal. However, as

explained by UCE 1 and UCE 2
, although a study would be produced, it would be of poor

quality and the substantial amount of the grant money received by Sunshine U
niversal would be

used to enrivh anyone that participated with them in the scheme to obtai
n the m oney.

As explained by UCE 1 and UCE 2
, to succeed in obtaining the federal grant

monies, they needed local municipalities to pass resolutions in support of S
unshine Universal's

grant application, They also needed local officials to perform additional offi
cial acts, including

signing a letter endorsing Sunshine Universal's application and answ
ering an audit or survey call

that purportedly came from Americorps that addressed the administ
ration and use of the grant

funds.

10. UCE 1 and UCE 2 indicated they were willing to make pa
ym ents to any public

officials that would provide favorable official acts necessary to obt
ain the federal grant money

.

COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it H onest Services W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 371, 1343 & 1346)

Paragraphs l through 10 of the General Allegations section of this l
nformation are

re-alleged and incorporated as though fully set forth herein
.

1 2. Beginning at least as early as in or around October 201 1
, and continuing through

on or gbout August 6, 2013
, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida

, and

elsewhere, the defendants
,

MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO and
JO RG E LUIS FO RTE,

did knowingly and willfully combine
, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and R

.C.

to commit an offense against the United States of America
, that is, to devise, and intend to
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devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud the citizens of Sweetwat
er and the City of Sweetwater of

their right to the honest and faithful services of MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO th
rough

bribery and kickbacks and the concealment of material i
nformation, and for the pum ose of

executing such scheme and artifice did transmit and cause to be t
ransmitted by means of wire

,

radio, or television communication in interstate and for
eign comm erce, any writings, signs,

signals, pictures
, and sounds, in violation of Title l 8

, United States Code, Section 1343 and

1346.

OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

13. A purpose and object of the conspiracy was for the conspirators to u
nlawfully

enrich themselves by secretly using MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO'S offi
cial position and

power to solicit and accept payments and other things of valut fr
om Sunshine Universal in

exchange for favorable official actions by MAROMO.

THE M ANNER AND M EANS

The naanner and nneans by which the conspiracy wasaccompli
shed included, among

other things, the following:

After learning the nature and extent of the Sunshine Universal 
scheme, R.C.

would identify MANUEL LAZARO MARONO as a public official who would likely exchange

favorable official acts for kickbacks.

15. R.C. would approach MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO about the Sunshine

Universal scheme and initially serve as a conduit between Sunshine Univers
al and MARO&O.

Using his official position as Mayor of Sweetwater
, M ANUEL LAZARO

M AROXO would agree to
, and would perform favorable official acts to enable Sunshine

Universal to receive federal grant money
.
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M ANUEL LAZARO M AROXO'S favorable official acts
,

M ARO#O, JORGE LUIS FORTE and R
.C. would reetive and aecept cash and other things of

value from Sunshine Universal.

l 8. To ensure that Sunshine Universal received the federal 
grant money in

furtherance of the kickback scheme
, MANUEL LAZARO MARONO would falsely claim to an

ln exchange for

individual posing as an employee of Americorps during audit 
surveys that the federal grant

money was being put to good and constructive use for the public benetst
.

19. To conceal the true nature of the relationship with Sunshin
e Universal, M ANUEL

LAZARO M ARO&O would withhold material facts from the citizens of Sw
eetwater and the

City of Sweetwater
, to include: his ongoing receipt of payments from Sunshine Universal; that

Sunshine Universal had received federal grant money using Sweet
water's authority; and that the

economic development study that Sweetwater would receive would b
e, at best, of very poor

quality.

20. To conceal the true nature of the relationship between S
unshine Universal and

MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO, JORGE LUIS FORTE would serve as 
a frontman

collecting a1l kickback payments from Sunshine Universal which wer
e thereafter divided equally

with M ARO&O.

2 l . To conceal the true nature of the relationship between S
unshine Universal and

MANIJEL LAZARO M ARo&o, JoRcE Iotlls FORTE would direct the UcE
s to not

discuss the cash payments with MAROXO on the telephone
.

OVERT ACTS

ln furtherance of the conspiracy and to aceomplish its object and purpose
, at least one of

the conspirators committed and caused to be committed
, in the Southern District of Florida, and
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elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts
, among others:

22. On or about December 6
, 201 1, MANUEL LAZARO M ARO&O and R

.C.

caused the passage of a resolution in the City of Sweetwater that 
authorized Sunshine Universal

to apply for and receive federal grant money using the authority of S
weetwater as the sponsoring

m unicipality.

On or about December 6
, 20l l , MARONO signed the resolution as the Mayor of

Sweetwater.

24. On or about March 2
, 2012, JORGE LUIS FORTE, on behalf of MAROXO

and FORTE, negotiated a $20
,000 pay-off in exchange for

causing the passage of the resolution in Sweetwater and for spe
cified future offscial adions

.

On or about M arch 15, 2012, FORTE, on behalf of MAROMO and FORTE
,

accepted a $6,600 cash payment from an undercover FBI employee po
sing as a principal of

Sunshine Universal.

MARO&O'S oftscial action of

26. On or about M arch 19
, 2012, MAROMO signed a letter

, in his official capacity as

Mayor of Sweetwater
, endorsing Sunshine Universal's grant application

.

On or about M areh l 9, 2012, M ARO&O caused an email
, which included the

signed endorsement letter
, to be sent from a computer that was physically located in Sweetw

ater,

Florida, to a computer that was physically located in Chicago
, lllinois.

28. On or about April 17
, 2012, FORTE, on behalf of MAROXO and FORTE

,

aceeptçd a $6,600 cash payment from an undercover FBI employee posing 
as a principal of

Sunshine Universal.

6
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29. On or about M ay 10, 2012, MAROXO falsely claimed to someone he believed to

be an auditor with Americorps that he had spoken on a weekly basis 
with a representative of

Sunshine Universal about the specific needs of Sweetwater
.

30. On or about May 10
, 2012, MAROXO falsely claimed to someone posing as an

Americorps auditor that Sunshine Universal had provided on
-the-ground persormel for purposes

of conducting grant research.

On or about M ay 10, 2012
, MAROMO falsely claimed to someone posing as an

Americorps auditor that municipal personnel of Sweetwater were h
appy to be working with

Sunshine Universal.

32. On or about August 6
, 2012, FORTE, on behalf of MARONO and FORTE

,

accepted a $6,800 cash payment from an undercover FBI employee posing a
s a principal of

Sunshine Universal.

On or about M arch 15, 2013, MAROXO falsely claimed to someone posing as an

Americoms auditor that he had received a written report detailing th
e current state of the

underemployment in the City of Sweetwater from Sunshine Univers
al.

On or about M arch 25
, 2013, FORTE, on behalf of MAROXO and FORTE

,

accepted a $1 0,000 cash payment from an undercover FBl employee posing a
s a principal of

Sunshine Universal.

35. On or about April 24
, 2013, FORTE spoke with UCE 2 on the telephone and

directed the UCES not discuss the cash payments to MARONO over the telephone

On or about May 14
, 2013, FORTE, on behalf of M AROXO and FORTE

,

accepted a $10,000 payment from an undercover FB1 employee posing as a prin
cipal of Sunshine

Universal.
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code
, Section 371 .

CRIM INAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

Paragraphs 1 through 10 of the General Allegations section and the allegations of

Count 1 of this Infonnation are re-alleged and by this reference fully incorporated herein for the

purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of certain property in which the

defendant has an interest, pursuant to the provisions of Title 1 8, United States Code
, Section

98 1(a)(1)(C), and the procedures of Title 21, United States Code, Section 853.

b. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count 1 of this lnformation
, the

defendant MANUEL LAZARO MAROXO shall forfeit to the United States
, pursuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), all property constituting
, or derived from,

proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses
, including, but not limited to,

the sum of approximately $30,000.

c. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count 1 of this lnfonnation
, the

defendant JORGE LUIS FORTE shall forfeit to the United States
, pursuant to Title 1 8, United

States Code, Section 98l (a)(1)(C), a1l property constituting, or derived from
, proceeds obtained

directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses
, including, but not limited to, the sum of

approximately $30,000.

d. lf the property described above
, as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of any

act or omission ofthe defendant,

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

has been transferred or sold to
, or deposited with a third person;

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(4) has been substantially diminished in value; or

8
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(5) has been commingled with other property which cannot be subdivided without

difficulty,

it is the intent of the United States
, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code

, Section 853(p), to

seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the value of th
e above forfeitable

property.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C) as made applicable by

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c) and the procedures set forth at Title 2 1
, United

States Code, Section 853

A . > ,v cm
- osz.V WIFREDO A. FERR R

UNITED S ES ATTORN EY

/

J E . YER
, A IS ANT IT D STAT ATTORNEY

F,/.w
RO RT SEN IOR

AS ISTANT UNITE STATES TTORNEY
C IE ,F PUBLIC C RUPTIO & CIVIL

RIGHTS SECTIO
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

MANUEL LAZARO MAROMO and
JORGE LUIS FORTE,

Defendants.
I

Court Division: (select one)

X Miami Ke West)B FTpFTL w

I do hereby cedify that:

New Defendantts) Yes NoN
umber of New Defendants

Total number of counts

I have carefully considered the allegations of the information
, the number of defendants, the numbert

nesses and the Iegal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attached hereto
.

of probable wi

I am aware that thç information s pu plied oq this jtqtement will be relied upon by the Judges of this
d schedullng crlmlnal trlals under the mandate of the Speedy TrialCoud in setting thelr cal:ndars an

Act, Title 28 U.S.C. Sectlon 3161 .

3.

4 .

Please check appropriate category and type of offense Iisted below:
(Check only one) (Check only one)

0 to 5 days
6 to 10 days
1 1 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
61 days and over

P#tty
Mlnor
M lsdem .
Felony --- -X-

6. Has this case been previously filed in this District Coud? (Yes or No) NoIf 
yes:J
udge: Case No

.(Attach copy gf dispositive ?rdeq)
Has a complalnt been filed In thls matter? (Yes or No) YesIf 
yeq:M
aglstrate Case No. -mJ- - Imon on

Related Misc:llaneous numbers:
Defendantts) ln federal custody as ofD
efendantts) In state custody as ofR
ule 20 from the Is rIc o

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No)

X

Iqterpreter: (Yes 9r No) No
LIst Ianguage and/or dlalect

This case will take 0 days for the parties to try.

Dpes this case o qri inate from a matter pending in the Nodhern Region of the U
.S. Attorney's OfficeT

, 2003? Yes X Noprlor to October 1

Dpes this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U
.S. Attorney's Officeprlor to Sept

em ber 1, 2007? Yes X No
8.

CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY.

Superseding Case Information:

*penalty Sheetts) attached

ar

''
' 

ASS STAùT NITED STATE ATTORNEYy'
''' co RT ID N , A5501240

REV.9/1 1/07
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: MANUEL LAZARO MAROMO

Case No:

Count

Conspiracy to comm it honest services wire fraud

Title l 8. United States Codes Sedion 37 1

# M ax.penalty: 5 years' im prisonm ent

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable

.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT O F FLO RIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: JORGE LUIS FO RTE

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracv to comm it honest services wire fraud

Title 18. United States Codes Section 371

* M ax.penalty: 5 years' imprisonm ent

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessments, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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